IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-TS-02122

**WILLIE NELSON d/b/a
NELSON PLUMBING COMPANY**

APPELLANT

V.

**CITY OF HORN LAKE BOARD OF
ALDERMEN ACTING BY AND THROUGH
ITS BOARD OF ALDERMEN**

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DESOTO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

**BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT,
WILLIE NELSON d/b/a NELSON PLUMBING COMPANY**

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT:

**Christopher Solop (MSB No. [REDACTED])
Joseph M. Gianola, Jr. (MSB No. [REDACTED])
ROBINSON, BIGGS, INGRAM,
SOLOP & FARRIS, PLLC
111 Capitol Building
111 East Capitol Street, Suite 101
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
Telephone: (601) 987-4822
Facsimile: (601) 713-9920**

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The issues in this appeal are set forth by Appellant, Willie Nelson d/b/a Nelson Plumbing Company ("Nelson") as follows:

- A. Whether the City of Horn Lake had the right to reject Nelson's low bid for the Goodman Road Sanitary Sewer Extension ("Project") for the reasons set forth in its Resolution #09-07-05 unanimously adopted by the City's Board of Aldermen on September 20, 2005.
- B. Whether the City of Horn Lake violated *Miss. Code Ann.* § 31-7-13(d)(i) by awarding the contract for the Goodman Road Project to the second low bidder, Freeland and Lemm Construction, Co. ("Freeland") without placing on its Minutes "detailed calculations" showing that Freeland's second low bid was the "lowest and best bid."
- C. Whether Nelson's position as the lowest, responsive bidder, created a property interest, i.e., a right to award of a contract and, if so, whether the City of Horn Lake violated Nelson's constitutional right to due process rights by rejecting Nelson's lowest bid without notice and an opportunity to present all lawful evidence in defense of adverse allegations asserted by the City of Horn Lake and others from whom comments were solicited.
- D. Whether the City of Horn Lake acted arbitrarily and capriciously when it embarked on an investigation of Nelson's performance and payment history to deprive Nelson of its right to the award but made no investigation of Freeland before it awarded the Project to Freeland.
- E. Whether it was error for the Circuit Court to exclude from the record a copy of an Occupational Health and Safety Administration report fining awardee Freeland nearly \$100,000 for intentionally violating safety regulations that resulted in the death of a construction worker.
- F. Whether the individual members of the Board of Alderman for the City of Horn Lake are personally liable for damage due to the unlawful award of the Goodman Road Project to Freeland and Lemm Construction, Co.
- G. Whether Nelson is entitled to its lost profits and attorney's fees from the City of Horn Lake and/or the individual members of the Board of Aldermen for being unlawfully deprived of the contract for the Goodman Road Project.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This appeal requires the Court to determine whether the City of Horn Lake ("the City") complied with Mississippi's public bid laws, violated Nelson's constitutional due process rights, or otherwise acted arbitrarily and capriciously when it rejected Nelson's lowest, responsive bid and made award to the second low bidder *without* doing any of the following: (1) placing detailed calculations and a narrative summary in its Minutes as required by *Miss. Code Ann.* § 31-7-13 (d)(i) when award is made to other than the lowest bidder; (2) providing notice and an opportunity to Nelson to respond to the adverse comments the City solicited in its campaign to blackball Nelson's lowest, responsive bid; and (3) performing any investigation of Freeland's past performance, which included the death of a construction worker for which Freeland was significantly fined for safety violations.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

Nelson timely filed a protest to the City when it learned its lowest, responsive bid was rejected in favor of Freeland's higher bid. When the City refused to reverse its rejection of Nelson's bid, Nelson timely filed its Notice of Appeal and Bill of Exceptions under *Miss. Code Ann.* § 11-51-75 with the Circuit Court for DeSoto County.

After a hearing on December 1, 2006, the Circuit Court affirmed the City's award to Freeland. The Circuit Court held that Nelson had no property interest by virtue of its lowest bid and that the City's award to Freeland was not arbitrary and capricious and was supported by substantial evidence. The Circuit Court also held that an OSHA report on Freeland's safety violations was not properly before the Circuit Court but in any event did not affect its findings. Nelson timely appealed to this Court.

C. Statement of the Facts

a. Proceedings Prior to Award of Contract

1. Nelson is an experienced plumbing and utilities contractor duly licensed and determined by the Mississippi State Board of Contractors to be "responsible." **AR 000016.**
2. The Mayor and Board of Aldermen ("the Board") for the City issued an Advertisement for Bids soliciting lump sum sealed bids for construction of the Goodman Road Sanitary Sewer Extension ("Project"). Bids were due not later than July 1, 2005, at 3:00 p.m. **AR 000018 – 000025.**
3. Nelson timely submitted its bid which complied in all forms and particulars with the Advertisement for Bids and Instruction to Bidders. **AR 000027-31.**
4. When bids were opened, Nelson was determined to be the apparent low bidder. **AR 000033.**
5. On September 20, 2005, the Board voted to award the work in the Base Bid and Additive Alternate "A". **AR 000090 – 91.** Nelson's bid for those items, which totaled \$2,294,076.50, was the lowest responsive bid. The next lowest bid for those items was Freeland's in the amount of \$2,298,761.62, which is \$4,685.12 higher than Nelson's bid. **AR 000033.** As evaluated by the Project engineers, Nelson's bid price was \$2,294,035.50. Accordingly, the difference between Nelson's and Freeland's bid was \$4726.12. **AR 0061.**
6. Rather than award the contract to Nelson, the Board voted to award the contract to Freeland. The Board justified its decision based upon its finding Nelson was not a responsible contractor. **AR 000038-39.**

b. Nelson's Protests to the City of Horn Lake

8. Aggrieved by the decision of the Board, Nelson timely protested to the City on September 22, 2005, challenging the award to any bidder other than Nelson. **AR 000035 – 000036.**

9. The City's attorney responded to the protest in a letter dated September 23, 2005, confirming the vote by the Board to make award to Freeland instead of Nelson. **AR 000038 – 000039.**

10. Based on information provided in a telephone conversation between the City's attorney and counsel for Nelson, Nelson filed a supplemental protest on September 26, 2005. **AR 000046 – 000049.**

11. On September 29, 2005, Nelson filed a Notice of Appeal and Bill of Exceptions challenging the decision of the City to reject Nelson's low bid and award to Freeland. **AR 000004 – 000049.**

12. Despite repeated demands, the City failed to timely sign and file the Bill of Exceptions. Nelson was forced to file a Motion to Compel. **AR 000050 – 000054.**

13. On April 5, 2006, the City's counsel signed a Corrections to Bill of Exceptions. **AR 000101 – 000105.**

14. Finally, on May 8, 2006, the Mayor of the City filed its Designation of Appeal record, which included the Corrections to Bill of Exceptions signed by the City's Mayor. **AR 000055 – 000228.**

15. By this time, the Project was virtually complete. However, this was the first that Nelson saw of the City's October 4, 2005, Minutes reflecting the Board's unanimous vote on September 20, 2005, to award to Freeland over Nelson and the other documents before the Board, including responses the City received from its

"investigation" of Nelson which allegedly substantiate the decision to reject Nelson's lowest, responsive bid.

c. The record on appeal to the Circuit Court, as finally revealed by the City of Horn Lake

16. The record compiled by the City shows that the only bidder it investigated was Nelson, that investigation included no contact with Nelson itself. Also, the City did not comply with the statutory mandates requiring a documented demonstration that award had been made to the lowest and best bidder.

17. After bids were opened, the City set out to build its case against lowest-bidder Nelson. Although the City's Engineer, Matt Thomson, prepared a memorandum stating that "[a]fter some research on the various bidders, it appears that the City would be best served by awarding the contract to the second bidder", there is not a scintilla of any "research" by the City into any bidder except Nelson. **AR 000106 – 000228.**

18. There is not a single letter or other documentation in the record of any inquiry, request for reference, or other type of "research" that the City made of Freeland.

19. The "research" the City obtained on Nelson in 2005 consisted of solicited (by the City's Engineer) correspondence making vague accusations of Nelson's being in breach on other contracts and other solicited (by the City's Engineer) correspondence from suppliers to Nelson complaining of late or no payment on transactions as old as a decade (1995). **AR 0000118 and 000124.**

20. The City's Engineer doggedly sought and compiled a list of these accusations (**AR 000122**). However, at no time did the City ever request *any* response from Nelson as to whether the complaints were legitimate, the result of late or slow payment to Nelson, due to the fault or mistake of others involved with those projects, or simply ask Nelson for its position. The City gave Nelson no notice of these complaints

and no opportunity to respond to them despite the fact that the Advertisement and Instructions to Bidders stated that "the Bidder shall furnish to the Owner all such information and data" for the purposes of the Owner's investigation of the Bidder's ability to perform the work. **AR 000024.**

21. The bulk of the City's "investigation" included its own one-sided grievances against Nelson in connection with Nelson's alleged performance problems on a contract with the City in 1999, six years prior to the bid for the Project at issue here. **(AR 000125 – 000228).**

22. Had even a cursory inquiry into Freeland's "past performance" been done by the City, it would have found that Freeland was fined nearly \$100,000 for violations of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration's ("OSHA") regulations when it intentionally ignored safety requirements. A worker was buried alive and suffered death when a trench collapsed on him on a project in Olive Branch, Mississippi. According to OSHA, "company officials [of Freeland] knowingly put employees in harms way by callous disregard for well-recognized safety practices." **AR 000302.** This was also in 1999, the same time-frame the City went back to in its "research" of Nelson.

23. Not only was the Project involving this fatality in the City's neighboring city, Olive Branch, the information on it was still available in 2005, when the City purportedly conducted research on the "various bidders".

24. Upon its Minutes reflecting its decision to reject Nelson's lowest, responsive bid and accept the higher bid of Nelson, the City stated in its preamble that (1) it had "received many complaints about Nelson" and (2) that Nelson's performance on its contract with the City in 1999 "resulted in delay and/or damages to the City and other City Hall contractors." **AR 000061 – 000062.**

25. In its Resolution # 09-07-05 ("Resolution"), the City's Board of Aldermen unanimously adopted the foregoing, unanswered allegations against Nelson as "declared and adjudicated to be true and correct." **AR 000062.**

26. *Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13* (2005) states that award shall be made to the "lowest and best bidder." Where an awarding entity's determination that the "lowest and best" bidder is not the bidder that submitted the lowest dollar bid, the law requires a demonstration that the higher-priced bid is, in fact, the "lowest and best." This must be done, according to *Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(d)(i)* by the entity's "plac[ing] on its Minutes detailed calculations and narrative summary showing that the accepted bid was determined to be the lowest and best bid, including the dollar amount of the accepted bid and the dollar amount of the lowest bid."

27. The City's Minutes do not comply with § 31-7-13(d)(i). Although the Minutes include both the evaluated amount of Nelson's lowest bid (\$2,294,035.20) and Freeland's higher bid (\$2,298,761.62), there are "no detailed calculations" demonstrating that whatever the City found objectionable in its "investigation" of Nelson actually translated into specific, additional costs that, when added to Nelson's bid, made it other than lowest and best.

d. Nelson's appeal to the Circuit Court

28. On appeal, the Circuit Court upheld the award to Freeland. The Circuit Court determined that "'some research' on the various bidders" had been done and, therefore, the City's "finding that Nelson was not the lowest responsible bidder was no arbitrary or capricious." **AR 000317.**

29. The Circuit Court also ruled that Nelson's due process right had not been violated because, even as the lowest bidder, it had no such right. **AR 000317 – 000318.**

30. Nelson had included the OSHA bulletin (see ¶ 22, *supra*) in its reply brief during the appeal to the Circuit Court, and the City's counsel filed a motion to strike the bulletin because it was allegedly not before the City at the time award was made to Freeland. **AR 000302 and 000305.**

31. The Circuit Court determined that the OSHA report was not properly part of the record before it on appeal. However, it was apparently considered by the lower court, as it stated "the report does not affect the Court's findings." **AR 000318.**

32. Nelson timely appealed to this Court.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The City's award of the contract to Freeland is incurably defective. It is the result of undisputable violations of Mississippi's clear and unambiguous public procurement statutes. The award is also the result of constitutional violations of Nelson's due process rights and otherwise arbitrary and capricious.

The City failed at the critical moment—i.e., before award to Freeland—to demonstrate that Nelson's bid was *not* the lowest and best bid, and it failed to demonstrate that Freeland's bid was the lowest and best bid. It did this by failing to perform the "detailed calculations" which are required to demonstrate that the higher bid of Freeland was, in fact, the lowest and best bid presented to the City.

The errors of the City are not mere technical defects in the Minutes. The gravamen of this aspect of Nelson's appeal is not that the City's Minutes fail to include an equation showing the arithmetical difference between the two bids as submitted. Rather, Nelson's complaint is that *detailed calculations showing that its alleged past performance deficiencies translated into some additional costs to the City that made its bid not the actual lowest* were never made. If such calculations had been made, they

would have appeared somewhere in the record even if not in the Minutes. They do not. The City ostensibly performed only the "narrative summary" work required by §31-7-13(d)(i); it did not perform the "detailed calculations" work required by §31-7-13 (d)(i). Although the difference in Nelson's and Freeland's bid was only \$4726.12, the law does not have a "sliding scale" of compliance with § 31-7-13(d)(i) depending on the spread between the lowest bid and the bid of the awardee.

As the lowest bidder whose bid complied with all the forms and particulars of the City's Advertisement and Invitation to Bidders, Nelson had a property interest of which it could not legally be deprived without notice and opportunity for a hearing. Nelson was given none. Even where the difference in bids has been a few hundreds of dollars rather than nearly five thousand, Mississippi jurisprudence supports some requirement for a response opportunity from the low bidder to allegations against him and some actual inquiry into the similar aspects of the higher awardee's past.

Even if there were no statutory or constitutional defects in the award and award process, the award to Freeland over Nelson is arbitrary and capricious and, therefore, should not have been affirmed. The investigation conducted by the City's Engineer was a veritable witchhunt against Nelson. Unsubstantiated allegations of late or non-payment from transactions that were a decade old and from alleged businessmen who were admittedly bitter towards Nelson (**AR 000124**) were not passed on to Nelson for any response but were the root of the City's rejection of Nelson's bid. The City solicited letter after letter against Nelson but, if their record is to be believed, never checked into the first reference for Freeland and never lifted a finger to find out any information about their past performance.

If the City's entire Board of Aldermen had not heard of Freeland's callous

disregard for the safety of its employees which resulted in death, they did not do their job because the catastrophe was a matter of public record not to mention outcry. If they had heard of Freeland's safety violations, they did not do their job because they ignored information far more damaging than what they think they had on Nelson. As far as this procurement is concerned, the City applied one standard of inquiry to Nelson and a far different, deferential standard to Freeland. How could such an inexplicable difference in the examination to determine the "lowest and best" bid *not* be considered arbitrary and capricious?

For the reasons set forth by Nelson in the lower court, all of which are incorporated herein by reference, Nelson was the lowest and best bidder and was illegally deprived of its right to perform the Goodman Road Project.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The standard of review is a *de novo* review of the City's rejection of Nelson's lowest, responsive bid and a *de novo* review of the Circuit Court's exclusion from the record of the OSHA bulletin reporting on Freeland's fines for the death of a worker. As to issues appealed under *Miss. Code Ann.* §11-51-75, this Court has held that all reviewing courts, including this one, shall not set the challenged action aside "unless it is clearly shown to be arbitrary, capricious, or discriminatory or is illegal or without substantial evidentiary basis." *City of Jackson v. Capital Reporter Pub. Co.*, 373 So.2d 802, 806 (Miss. 1979). As to whether the Circuit Court should have considered the OSHA bulletin presented on appeal in that court, that involves a question of law to which this Court always applies a *de novo* standard of review. *A&F Props., LLC v. Madison County Bd. of Supervisors*, 933 So.2d 296, 300 (Miss. 2006).

B. Mississippi's Public Bid Statute Mandates Award to the "Lowest and Best Bidder" and Prescribes a Clear and Unambiguous Process for Documenting Awards to Other than the Lowest Bidder which Horn Lake Ignored

Under Mississippi's public bid statute, *Miss. Code Ann.* § 31-7-13 (2005), award of a public contract can only be made to the "lowest and best bidder". Public owners have some discretion to determine which bidder, if any, constitutes the "lowest and best bidder". However, to ensure that purchases made with citizens' money are obtained on the basis of the lowest and best bid and not as a result of bias or favoritism on the part of awarding officials, Mississippi law also expressly requires a specific documentation by the awarding entity any time award is made to a bidder other than the bidder that submitted the lowest, responsive bid. *Miss. Code Ann.* §31-7-13 (d)(i) provides in pertinent part as follows:

. . . If any governing accepts a bid other than the lowest bid actually submitted it shall place on its Minutes detailed calculations and narrative summary showing that the accepted bid was determined to be the lowest and best bid, including the dollar amount of the accepted bid and the dollar amount of the lowest bid. No agency or governing authority shall accept a bid based on items not included in the specifications.

Emphasis added. The requirements of this statute are mandatory and unambiguous when a governing authority accepts a bid other than the lowest bid actually submitted. It mandates documentation not just of a narrative summary but also "*detailed calculations*" showing that the accepted bid was determined to be the lowest and best bid. The *objective requirement* for these calculations is necessary to protect the integrity of the public procurement system and taxpayers. Absent this *objective requirement* for a demonstration that the subjective objections to the lowest bid (as set forth in the narrative summary) actually translate into higher costs such that the lowest bid is not, in fact, the purposes of public bidding cannot be preserved. In short, dollar

values must be attached to the words. Without that complete process, governing agencies have not complied with the requirement to make award only to the "lowest and best bidder".

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