IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIE NELSON D/B/A
NELSON PLUMBING COMPANY

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2006-TS-02122

CITY OF HORN LAKE BOARD OF ALDERMAN ACTING BY AND THROUGH ITS BOARD OF ALDERMAN **APPELLEE**

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DESOTO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

JOHN D. PRICE (MSB # WISE CARTER CHILD & CARAWAY POST OFFICE BOX 651 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39205-0651 (601) 968-5500

BILLY C. CAMPBELL, JR. (MSB BASKIN McCARROLL McCASKILL & CAMPBELL 3101 GOODMAN ROAD HORN LAKE, MISSISSIPPI 38637 (662) 349-0664

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

I. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The law controlling this action is well settled. The Court of Appeals' recent unanimous en banc decision in *Burnett v. Pontotoc Board of Supervisors*, 940 So.2d 241 (Miss. App. 2006) *cert. denied*, 939 So. 2d 805 (Miss. 2006) and the long line of Mississippi Supreme Court decisions relied upon by the Court of Appeals dispatch the Appellant's arguments.

City of Horn Lake issued an advertisement for bids for the construction of the Goodman Road Sanitary Sewer Extension ("Goodman Road Project"). Five companies submitted bids for the Project. Willie Nelson submitted the lowest bid which was \$2,294,035.50. Freeland and Lemm Construction Company submitted the second lowest bid of \$2,298,761.62. The difference between the two bids is \$4,726.12 which is one-fifth of one-percent. In the Instructions to Bidders the City of Horn Lake retained the right to make such investigation as it deemed necessary to determine the ability of the bidder to perform the work. The City of Horn Lake reserved the right to reject any bid if its investigation failed to satisfy it that the bidder was properly qualified to complete the work. The City of Horn Lake had previously contracted with Nelson for a portion of the construction of the City Hall. Nelson failed to perform work under that contract in accordance with the design drawings which caused delay to the City. City of Horn Lake's investigation into Nelson's qualifications revealed seven (7) other businesses or municipalities which had complaints about Nelson's performance or payment. The Horn Lake City Engineer wrote to the Mayor and Board of Aldermen that "[a]fter some research on the various bidders, it appears that the City would be best served by awarding the contract to the second bidder." The Board of Aldermen determined that the second lowest bid was the best bid by a responsible bidder and awarded the contract to Freeland and Lemm Construction Company.

The Board of Aldermen had the authority under both the bid documents and Mississippi law to consider the past conduct of bidders in its determination of the "lowest and best bid." The record reflects Nelson's poor past performance under contracts with the City of Horn Lake and others. The board properly exercised its discretion when it concluded that a bid which was within 1/5th of 1% of the lowest bid was the best bid. Under the Instructions to Bidders, the Board of Aldermen was entitled to rely upon its investigation of Nelson and other bidders and the Minutes of the Board adequately explain the Board's reasoning. Neither the Instructions to Bidders nor Mississippi law required that Nelson be afforded a hearing to challenge the Board's findings regarding his past poor performance. A deferential standard of review applies to the judicial review of actions of municipal boards. Nelson has failed to meet his burden of clearly establishing that the board's decision was arbitrary and capricious.

II. ARGUMENT

1. Standard of Review.

The Appellant incorrectly states that the Supreme Court should apply a de novo standard of review to the decision of the City of Horn Lake Board of Aldermen. Canton Farm Equipment, Inc. v. Richardson, 501 So.2d 1098 (Miss. 1987) ("Judicial review of such equipment purchase decisions is hardly de novo. Deference must be given the decisions. . . .") Id. at 1104, fn5. There is a rebuttable presumption in favor of the decision rendered by the board. Attala County Board of Supervisors v. Miss. State Dept. of Health, 867 So.2d 1019 (Miss. 2004). The Court should not substitute its judgment or reweigh the facts of the case. Id. "[J]udicial intervention is wholly inappropriate merely because the Court, if it were considering the matter ab initio, would have accepted a different bid." Canton Farm Equipment, Inc. v. Richardson, 501 So.2d 1098, 1104 fn5

(Miss. 1987). The court is not at liberty to set aside the decisions of the Board of Aldermen unless it was unsupported by substantial evidence and was arbitrary and capricious. *Brandon v. Claiborne County*, 828 So.2d 202 (Miss. 2002). Substantial evidence has been defined as "more than a scintilla of evidence." *Id.* The Mississippi Supreme Court has defined "arbitrary and capricious" as denoting an act "not done according to reason or judgment, but depending on the will alone" or "done without reason, in a whimsical manner." *Watkins v. Mississippi Board of Bar Admissions*, 659 So.2d 561, 568 (Miss. 1995). The Appellant has the burden of clearly establishing that the action was arbitrary and capricious. *Hemphill Const. Co., Inc. v. City of Laurel*, 760 So.2d, 720, 723 (Miss. 2000); *Sunland Pub. Co. v. City of Jackson*, 710 So.2d 879, 881-82 (Miss. 1998). Decisions which one would consider to be "fairly debatable are not arbitrary or capricious."

2. City of Horn Lake properly exercised its discretion in the award of the contract on the Goodman Road Project.

Nelson alleges that the City of Horn Lake violated Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(d) by awarding the contract on the Goodman Road Project to the second lowest bidder. Section 31-7-13(d) provides that the municipality may award a construction contract to the "lowest and best bidder." Emphasis added. The Mississippi Supreme Court has repeatedly held that the governing authority may consider factors other than price in its determination in the lowest and best bid. *Hemphill Construction Co. v. City of Laurel*, 760 So.2d 720, 723 (Miss. 2000); *Parker Brothers v. Crawford*, 219 Miss. 199, 209, 68 So.2d 281, 285 (1953). This point was recently reiterated in the Mississippi Court of Appeals' decision in *Burnett v. Pontotoc Board of Supervisors*, 940 So.2d 241 (Miss. App. 2006) *cert. denied*, 939 So.2d 805 (Miss. 2006). The Court stated:

The Mississippi Supreme Court has recognized that public authorities may, in making a determination of whether a bid is the lowest and best, take into consideration factors such as the bidder's honesty and integrity, the bidder's skill and business judgment, the bidder's experience and facilities for carrying out the contract, the bidder's conduct under previous contracts and the quality of work previously done by the bidder. 940 So.2d at 243.

The City of Horn Lake exercised its authority to consider items other than simply price when it concluded that the second lowest bid was the best bid. The Minutes of the City of Horn Lake reflect the following:

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City of Horn Lake, Mississippi (the "Governing Body") advertised for bids for the construction of the Goodman Road Sanitary Sewer Extension Project (the "Project") and did receive and open bids at a public meeting held on July 1, 2005; and

WHEREAS, five (5) companies submitted bids for the Project, with Nelson Plumbing Co. submitting the lowest base bid with Alternative A in the total amount of \$2,294,035.50, and Freeland and Lemm Construction Company submitting the second lowest base bid with Alternative A in the total amount of \$2,298,761.62; and

WHEREAS, the City has received numerous complaints about Nelson Plumbing Co., including complaints from Peterson Concrete Tank Co. (Little Rock, AR); Memphis Road Boring Co., Inc.(Memphis, TN); Elliott & Britt Engineering, P.A. (Oxford, MS); Tencarva (Memphis, TN); Allen & Hoshall (Memphis, TN); Town of Walls, MS; and Meter Service and Supply Co. (Memphis, TN); and

WHEREAS, the City previously contracted with Nelson Plumbing Co. for a portion of the construction of the current City Hall (the "City Hall contract"); and

WHEREAS, Nelson Plumbing Co. failed to perform work under its City Hall contract in accordance with the contract documents and the design drawings, which resulted in delay and/or damages to the City and other City Hall contractors.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. That all of the findings of fact made and set forth in the preamble to this resolution shall be and the same are hereby found, declared and adjudicated to be true and correct.

SECTION 2. That under the power and authority granted by the Laws of the State of Mississippi and particularly under Title 31, Chapters 5 and 7 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, and particularly Section 31-7-13, as amended, and pursuant to the Contract Documents and Bid Specifications for the Project and based upon the findings of fact made and set forth above, the Governing Body hereby finds that Freeland and Lemm Construction Company's base bid with Alternate A in the total amount of \$2,298,761.62 for the Goodman Road Sanitary Sewer Extension Project is the lowest and best bid.

SECTION 3. That the complaints received and noted from the aforementioned entities are hereby incorporated into and made a part of this resolution and shall be maintained in the City's Minute file. That the City Hall construction documents of the City's architect on the City Hall project (Johnson, Bailey, Henderson, McNeel (Southaven, MS; Memphis, TN)), the City's construction manager on the City Hall project (Webb Building Corp. (Memphis, TN)), and the City's Attorney, relative to issues concerning Nelson Plumbing Co. on the City Hall project, but excluding any document protected by any "privilege" provided by law, are hereby incorporated into and made a part of this resolution.

SECTION 4. That the unit price construction contract for the Goodman Road Sanitary Sewer Extension Project with Additive Alternate A shall be, and it is hereby awarded to Freeland and Lemm Construction Company in the current estimated amount of \$2,298,761.62 with the final cost to be determined by the quantities necessary and actually used to comply with the plans and specifications of the unit price contract. That the contract shall be in substantially the same form as contained in the Contract Documents and Bid Specifications for the Project, and the Mayor shall be, and he hereby is authorized to execute such contract upon approval by the City Attorney's office.

The vote of the Board of Aldermen was unanimous. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held a city is vested with discretion in determining the responsibility of a bidder. *Parkers Brothers* 68 So.2d at 285. The City of Horn Lake properly exercised its discretion in making its determination that Nelson was not the "best" bidder.

The facts in the instant case are remarkably similar to those contained in *Burnett v. Pontotoc County Board of Supervisors*, 940 So.2d 241 (Miss. App. 2006) *cert. denied*, 939 So.2d 805 (Miss. 2006). In *Burnett*, the Board of Supervisors solicited and received four bids for a contract for the renovation of the Courthouse. The Board of Supervisors awarded the contract to the second lowest bidder on the basis that it submitted the best, though not the lowest bid. In *Burnett*, the record showed that the Board of Supervisors contacted Burnett's references and some of the references for the lowest bidder were "very negative" and that overall, the responses indicated that Burnett's work was mediocre. The Circuit Court denied Burnett's challenge of the award recognizing that the Board was entitled to take these factors into consideration in making its decision as to which company had submitted the lowest and best bid. The Mississippi Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of the Pontotoc County Board of Supervisors and the Circuit Court of Pontotoc County in finding that the Board of Supervisors did not act arbitrarily and capriciously and that the Board was free to consider the experience, skill and reputation of the competing firms in determining which bid was the "lowest and best."

Another factor the Court of Appeals relied upon was the fact that there was only a 2.35% difference between the lowest bid and the accepted bid. The Court of Appeals stated "especially in light of the fact that there was a mere 2.35% difference between the bids, we cannot find that the Board of Supervisors acted arbitrarily and capriciously. . . ." In the instant case, Nelson's bid was \$2,294,035.50. Freeland and Lemm's bid was \$2,298,761.62. The difference between the two bids was only \$4,726.12 which is 1/5 of 1%. If the Court of Appeals considered a difference of 2.35% difference to be de minimis a difference of 1/5 of 1% is also insignificant.

Nelson fails to cite the Burnett case which presents the most recent analysis of the law in this

area. The City of Horn Lake respectfully submits that application of the law discussed in the *Burnett* case to the record before the Court compels the affirmance of the Board of Aldermen's decision.

3. The City of Horn Lake had not only the authority but the responsibility to consider the Bidder's past conduct.

A. The authority to consider Bidder's qualifications is created by state law.

The Supreme Court has held that the governing authority not only *may* consider the contractor's reputation and past experience but *should* consider such factors. In *Parker Brothers* v. *Crawford*, 219 Miss. 199, 68 So.2d 281 (1953), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that public authorities have "discretionary power to pass upon the honesty and integrity of the bidder necessary to a faithful performance of the contract-upon his skill and business judgment; his experience and his facilities for carrying out the contract; previous conduct under other contracts; and the quality of pervious work-as well as his pecuniary ability, and when that discretion is properly exercised the Courts will not interfere. All matters bearing upon the likelihood that the contract will be promptly and efficiently performed bear upon the question of responsibility of bidders and *may* and *should* be considered in determining who is the lowest responsible bidder." Emphasis added. *Id.* 285.

B. The authority to consider the Bidder's qualifications is also embodied in the Bid Documents.

Nelson argues that the City of Horn Lake considered criteria not included in the Instructions to Bidders in the determination of the "lowest and best" bid. Nelson ignores Paragraph 20 of the Instructions to Bidders which provides:

Qualifications of Bidder: Owner's Rights

The Owner may make such investigation as it deems necessary to determine the ability of the Bidder to perform the work, and the Bidder shall furnish to the Owner all such information and data for this purpose as the Owner may request. The Owner reserves the right

to reject any bid if the evidence submitted by or investigation of such Bidder fails to satisfy the Owner that such bidder is properly qualified to carry out the obligations of the Contract and to complete the work contemplated therein. R. at 76.

Both the Instructions to Bidders and the Mississippi case law granted the City of Horn Lake the authority to consider extrinsic evidence to determine the qualifications of the bidder. Nelson's argument that the City considered criteria not included in the Instructions to Bidders is without merit.

Next, Nelson argues that his past delinquency in payment of materialman are irrelevant because the City of Horn Lake would be protected by a payment bond. Again, Nelson's argument is exposed when illuminated in the light of Mississippi case law. In *Parker Brothers* the Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

The bidder to whom a contract for public work is to be awarded under a provision that such contracts shall be let to the "lowest responsible bidder" is one who is responsible and lowest in price on the advertised basis. Such a requirement does not compel the authorities to award a public contract to the lowest bidder who is financially responsible or who is able to produce responsible sureties. The term "responsible" as thus used is not limited in its meaning to financial resources and ability. What the public desires is a well-constructed work, for which a lawsuit even against a responsible defendant is a poor substitute; and authorizations of this kind are held to invest public authorities with discretionary power to pass upon the honesty and integrity of the bidder necessary to a faithful performance of the contract - upon his skill and business judgment; his experience and his facilities for carrying out the contract; previous conduct under other contracts; and the quality of previous work - as well as his pecuniary ability, and when that discretion is properly exercised the courts will not interfere. All matters bearing upon the likelihood that the contract will be promptly and efficiently performed bear upon the question of responsibility of bidders and may and should be considered in determining who is the lowest responsible bidder.

Parker 68 So.2d at 284-285. Emphasis added.

Just because Nelson is able to produce a payment bond (i.e. responsible sureties), does not mean he

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